

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:

F21 OPCO, LLC, *et al.*,¹

Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. 25-10469 (MFW)

(Jointly Administered)

Ref: Docket Nos. 6 & 74

**CERTIFICATION OF COUNSEL REGARDING
REVISED PROPOSED FINAL ORDER (I) AUTHORIZING CONTINUED USE OF
CASH MANAGEMENT SYSTEM; (II) AUTHORIZING USE OF PREPETITION
BANK ACCOUNTS AND CERTAIN PAYMENT METHODS; (III) AUTHORIZING
CONTINUED PERFORMANCE OF INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS IN THE
ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS; AND (IV) GRANTING RELATED RELIEF**

On March 16, 2025, the above-captioned debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, the “**Debtors**”) filed the *Debtors’ Motion for Entry of an Interim and Final Orders (I) Authorizing Continued Use of Cash Management System; (II) Authorizing Use of Prepetition Bank Accounts and Certain Payment Methods; (III) Authorizing Continued Performance of Intercompany Transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business; and (IV) Granting Related Relief* [D.I. 6] (the “**Motion**”). A proposed form of order approving the Motion on a final basis was attached to the Motion as Exhibit B (the “**Proposed Final Order**”).

On March 18, 2025, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “**Court**”) entered an order approving the Motion on an interim basis [D.I. 74] (the “**Interim Order**”). Pursuant to the Interim Order, any objections or responses to entry of the Proposed Final

¹ The Debtors in these cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification number, are: F21 OpCo, LLC (8773); F21 Puerto Rico, LLC (5906); and F21 GiftCo Management, LLC (6412). The Debtors’ address for purposes of service in these Chapter 11 Cases is 110 East 9th Street, Suite A500, Los Angeles, CA 90079.



Order were to be filed and served by April 8, 2025 at 4:00 p.m. (ET) (the “**Objection Deadline**”), as may have been extended for certain parties.

Prior to the Objection Deadline, the Debtors received informal comments to the Proposed Final Order from the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (the “**Committee**”). The Debtors did not receive any other informal responses or objections to the Motion. To resolve the Committee’s comments, the Debtors have agreed to revise the Proposed Final Order, as reflected in the revised Proposed Final Order attached hereto as **Exhibit A** (the “**Revised Proposed Final Order**”). For the convenience of the Court and other interested parties, a blackline comparing the Revised Proposed Final Order against the Proposed Final Order is attached hereto as **Exhibit B**.

As the Debtors did not receive any objections or responses other than those described herein, and the Committee does not object to entry of the Revised Proposed Final Order, the Debtors respectfully request that the Court enter the Revised Proposed Final Order without further notice or hearing at the Court’s earliest convenience.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

Dated: April 10, 2025

YOUNG CONAWAY STARGATT & TAYLOR, LLP

/s/ S. Alexander Faris

Andrew L. Magaziner (No. 5426)

Robert F. Poppiti, Jr. (No. 5052)

Ashley E. Jacobs (No. 5635)

S. Alexander Faris (No. 6278)

Kristin L. McElroy (No. 6871)

Andrew M. Lee (No. 7078)

Sarah Gawrysiak (No. 7403)

Rodney Square

1000 North King Street

Wilmington, DE 19801

Telephone: (302) 571-6600

Email: amagaziner@ycst.com

rpoppiti@ycst.com

ajacobs@ycst.com

afaris@ycst.com

kmcelroy@ycst.com

alee@ycst.com

sgawrysiak@ycst.com

Proposed Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

EXHIBIT A

Revised Proposed Final Order

**IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE**

In re:

F21 OPCO, LLC, *et al.*,¹

Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. 25-10469 (MFW)

(Jointly Administered)

Ref: Docket Nos. 6 & 74

**FINAL ORDER (I) AUTHORIZING CONTINUED USE OF CASH MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM; (II) AUTHORIZING USE OF PREPETITION BANK ACCOUNTS AND
CERTAIN PAYMENT METHODS; (III) AUTHORIZING CONTINUED
PERFORMANCE OF INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS IN THE ORDINARY
COURSE OF BUSINESS; AND (IV) GRANTING RELATED RELIEF**

Upon the motion (the “**Motion**”)² of the Debtors for entry of a final order (this “**Final Order**”), (a) authorizing the Debtors’ continued use of the Cash Management System; (b) authorizing the Debtors to continue using prepetition Bank Accounts and using debit, wire, and ACH payments; (c) continued performance of Intercompany Transactions in the ordinary course of business on the terms described herein; and (d) granting related relief, all as more fully set forth in the Motion; and this Court having reviewed the Motion and the First Day Declaration; and this Court having previously entered that certain *Interim Order (I) Authorizing Continued Use of Cash Management System; (II) Authorizing Use of Prepetition Bank Accounts and Certain Payment Methods; (III) Authorizing Continued Performance of Intercompany Transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business; and (IV) Granting Related Relief* [D.I. 74]

¹ The Debtors in these cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification number, are: F21 OpCo, LLC (8773); F21 Puerto Rico, LLC (5906); and F21 GiftCo Management, LLC (6412). The Debtors’ address for purposes of service in these Chapter 11 Cases is 110 East 9th Street, Suite A500, Los Angeles, CA 90079.

² Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Motion or First Day Declaration, as applicable.

(the “**Interim Order**”); and this Court having jurisdiction to consider the Motion and the relief requested therein in accordance with 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334 and the *Amended Standing Order of Reference* from the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, dated February 29, 2012; and this Court having found that this is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2) and that this Court may enter a final order consistent with Article III of the United States Constitution; and this Court having found that venue of this proceeding and the Motion in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409; and it appearing that proper and adequate notice of the Motion has been given and that no other or further notice is necessary; and upon the record herein; and after due deliberation thereon; and this Court having determined that the relief requested in the Motion is in the best interests of the Debtors, their estates, their creditors, and other parties in interest, it is hereby

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED THAT:

1. The Motion is GRANTED on a final basis, as set forth herein.
2. The Debtors are authorized, but not directed, and on a final basis, to: (a) continue operating the Cash Management System in accordance with, and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Cash Management Agreements, (b) continue to use the Bank Accounts in existence as of the Petition Date, in the names and with the account numbers existing immediately before the Petition Date, (c) honor any prepetition obligations related to the Cash Management System in the ordinary course of business, and (d) pay to any ordinary course bank fees and charges relating to the Bank Accounts and treasury management services, in each case irrespective of whether such fees arose prior to the Petition Date, and perform their obligations under the Cash Management Agreements. The Debtors shall provide notice to the U.S. Trustee

and counsel to the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (the “**Committee**”) of any material changes to their Cash Management System.

3. The Debtors are further authorized to: (a) maintain any corporate card programs and honor all prepetition and post-petition obligations arising thereunder, and (b) pay or reimburse any ordinary course amounts owed in connection with merchant services provided by the Banks, including without limitation PNC Merchant Services, or any other corporate credit card provider, for any fees, charges, refunds, chargebacks, reserves and other amounts due and owing from the Debtors to the providers of the corporate credit cards, p-cards, or any other similar arrangements, (the “**Corporate Credit Cards**”) under the applicable Cash Management Agreements, whether such obligations are incurred prepetition or post-petition, and the Banks providing for such Corporate Credit Cards are authorized to receive or obtain payment for such obligations, as provided under, and in the manner set forth in, the applicable Cash Management Agreement governing such Corporate Credit Cards.

4. The Debtors are further authorized, but not directed, to: (a) continue to use all of the Bank Accounts in existence as of the Petition Date, including but not limited to those accounts identified on Exhibit C to the Motion, in accordance with the terms of the applicable Cash Management Agreements; (b) use, in their present form, all Business Forms, without reference to the Debtors’ status as debtors in possession; *provided that* in the event that the Debtors need to purchase new check stock during the pendency of these Chapter 11 Cases, such check stock will include a legend referring to the Debtors as “Debtors in Possession” or “DIP” and the lead case number; *provided further* that with respect to checks that the Debtors or their agents print themselves, the Debtors shall use commercially reasonable efforts to print the “Debtor in Possession” legend and the lead bankruptcy case number on such checks; (c) treat the

Bank Accounts for all purposes as accounts of the Debtors as debtors-in-possession; (d) deposit funds in and withdraw funds from the Bank Accounts by all usual means, including checks, wire transfers, ACH payments, and other debits; and (e) pay any ordinary course prepetition or postpetition fees incurred in connection with the Bank Accounts and to otherwise perform their obligations under the applicable Cash Management Agreements governing the Bank Accounts.

5. The Cash Management Agreements existing between the Debtors and the Banks shall continue to govern the post-petition cash management relationship between the Debtors and the Banks and all of the provisions of such agreements, including the termination, fee provisions, rights, benefits, collateral, and offset rights, and remedies afforded under such agreements shall remain in full force and effect absent further order of this Court or, with respect to any such agreement with the Banks (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any rights of the Bank to use funds from the Bank Accounts to remedy any overdraft of another Bank Account or other cash management obligations, whether prepetition or postpetition, to the extent permitted under the applicable Cash Management Agreement), unless the Debtors and Bank agree otherwise, and any other legal rights and remedies afforded to the Bank under applicable law shall be preserved.

6. Each Bank is hereby authorized to continue to maintain, service, and administer the Bank Accounts as accounts of the Debtors as debtors in possession without interruption and in the ordinary course and to receive, process, honor, and pay, to the extent of available funds, any and all checks, drafts, wires, ACH transfers, and other electronic transfers of any kind issued and drawn on the Bank Accounts after the Petition Date by the holders or makers thereof, as the case may be (including the completion of any such transaction commenced on or before the Petition Date but not completed until on or after the Petition Date).

7. All objections to the entry of this Final Order, to the extent not withdrawn or settled, are overruled.

8. Each Bank may rely on the Debtors' representations with respect to whether any check or other payment order drawn or issued by the Debtors prior to the Petition Date should be honored pursuant to this or any other order of this Court, and the Banks shall not have any liability to any party for relying on such representations by the Debtors as provided for herein.

9. Subject to the terms of the applicable Cash Management Agreements, the Debtors are authorized to open any new bank accounts or close any existing Bank Accounts as they may deem necessary and appropriate in their sole discretion; *provided* that the Debtors give five (5) business days' prior notice to counsel for the Prepetition ABL Administrative Agent, counsel for the Prepetition Term Loan Agent, the U.S. Trustee, counsel to the Committee and any statutory committees appointed in these Chapter 11 Cases; *provided, further*, that the Debtors shall only open any such new bank accounts at banks that have executed a Uniform Depository Agreement with the U.S. Trustee, or at banks that are willing to immediately execute such an agreement.

10. The Debtors are authorized to continue to charge, and the Debtors are authorized to pay, honor, or allow the deduction from the appropriate account, the Bank Fees in the ordinary course of business, whether such items are dated prior to, on, or subsequent to the Petition Date.

11. Subject to the terms of the applicable Cash Management Agreements, the Debtors are authorized to continue performing Intercompany Transactions in the ordinary course of business; *provided that* the Debtors shall provide counsel to the Committee with at least three (3) days' prior notice of payment of any Intercompany Claim exceeding \$50,000 between any Debtor entity and any non-Debtor affiliate, including a report detailing the calculation of such Intercompany Transaction. For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided herein, the

Debtors shall not be authorized by this Final Order to undertake any Intercompany Transactions that are outside the ordinary course of business; *provided further* that the Debtors shall not be authorized by this Final Order to make cash payments on account of any prepetition Intercompany Claims.

12. The Debtors shall maintain accurate and detailed records of all transfers, including, without limitation, Intercompany Transactions and the payment of Intercompany Claims so that all transactions, including Intercompany Transactions and the payment of Intercompany Claims, may be readily ascertained, traced, and properly recorded in intercompany accounts (if any) and distinguished between prepetition and postpetition transactions, including for the purpose of determining administrative expense status.

13. All Intercompany Claims arising after the Petition Date as a result of Intercompany Transactions and transfers in the ordinary course of business shall be accorded administrative expense status in accordance with section 503(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; *provided, however*, nothing herein shall limit or be construed to limit the Debtors' ability to reconcile amounts owed between and among any Debtors, including netting and setting off obligations arising from Intercompany Transactions, whether arising prepetition or postpetition, in the ordinary course of business, as determined by the applicable Debtor.

14. Except as provided otherwise in paragraph 13 of this Final Order, the relief granted in this Final Order with respect to any Intercompany Transaction or Intercompany Claim shall not constitute a finding as to the validity, priority, or status of such Intercompany Transaction or Intercompany Claim. The rights of any party, including the Debtors and the Committee, to contest the validity, priority, or status of any Intercompany Transaction or

Intercompany Claim, or to object to object to or avoid any Intercompany Claim actually paid pursuant to this Final Order, are expressly reserved.

15. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, despite the Debtors' use of the consolidated Cash Management System, the Debtors shall calculate quarterly fees under 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6) based on the disbursements of each Debtor, regardless of which Debtor pays those disbursements.

16. Within two (2) business days from the entry of this Final Order, the Debtors shall serve a copy of this Final Order on each Bank.

17. Except as specifically set forth in this Final Order, nothing in the Motion, the Interim Order, or this Final Order, or the relief granted herein (including any actions taken or payments made by the Debtors), is to be construed as: (a) an implication or admission as to the amount of, basis for, or validity of any claim against the Debtors under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable non-bankruptcy law; (b) a waiver of the Debtors' or any other party in interest's right to dispute any claim; (c) a promise or requirement to pay any particular claim; (d) an implication or admission that any particular claim is of a type specified or defined in the Motion; (e) a concession by the Debtors that any lien (contractual, common, statutory or otherwise) satisfied pursuant to the Motion are valid (and all rights to contest the extent, validity or perfection or seek avoidance of all such liens are expressly reserved); (f) a request or authorization to assume, adopt, or reject any agreement, contract, or lease pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code; (g) an admission as to the validity, priority, enforceability, or perfection of any lien on, security interest in, or other encumbrance on property of the Debtors' estates; (h) a waiver of the obligation of any party in interest to file a proof of claim; or (i) a waiver of any claims or causes of action which may exist against any entity under the Bankruptcy Code or any

other applicable law. Nothing contained in this Final Order shall be deemed to increase, reclassify, elevate to an administrative expense status, or otherwise affect any claim to the extent it is not paid.

18. Notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rule 6004(h), or any other procedural rule, to the extent applicable, this Final Order shall be effective and enforceable immediately upon entry hereof.

19. The Debtors are authorized and empowered to take all actions necessary or appropriate to implement the relief granted in this Final Order.

20. This Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to all matters arising from or related to the implementation, interpretation or enforcement of this Final Order.

EXHIBIT B

Blackline

**IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE**

In re:

F21 OPCO, LLC, *et al.*,¹
Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. ~~25~~ 25-10469
(MFW)

(Jointly Administered)

Ref: Docket Nos. ~~6~~ & ~~74~~

**FINAL ORDER (I) AUTHORIZING CONTINUED USE OF CASH MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM; (II) AUTHORIZING USE OF PREPETITION BANK ACCOUNTS AND
CERTAIN PAYMENT METHODS; (III) AUTHORIZING CONTINUED
PERFORMANCE OF INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS IN THE ORDINARY
COURSE OF BUSINESS; AND (IV) GRANTING RELATED RELIEF**

Upon the motion (the “**Motion**”)² of the Debtors for entry of a final order (this “**Final Order**”), (a) authorizing the Debtors’ continued use of the Cash Management System; (b) authorizing the Debtors to continue using prepetition Bank Accounts and using debit, wire, and ACH payments; (c) continued performance of Intercompany Transactions in the ordinary course of business on the terms described herein; and (d) granting related relief, all as more fully set forth in the Motion; and this Court having reviewed the Motion and the First Day Declaration; and this Court having previously entered that certain *Interim Order (I) Authorizing Continued Use of Cash Management System; (II) Authorizing Use of Prepetition Bank Accounts and Certain Payment Methods; (III) Authorizing Continued Performance of Intercompany*

¹ The Debtors in these cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification number, are: F21 OpCo, LLC (8773); F21 Puerto Rico, LLC (5906); and F21 GiftCo Management, LLC (6412). The Debtors’ address for purposes of service in these Chapter 11 Cases is 110 East 9th Street, Suite A500, Los Angeles, CA 90079.

² Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Motion or First Day Declaration, as applicable.

Transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business; and (IV) Granting Related Relief [D.I. ~~74~~]
 (the “**Interim Order**”); and this Court having jurisdiction to consider the Motion and the relief requested therein in accordance with 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334 and the *Amended Standing Order of Reference* from the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, dated February 29, 2012; and this Court having found that this is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2) and that this Court may enter a final order consistent with Article III of the United States Constitution; and this Court having found that venue of this proceeding and the Motion in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409; and it appearing that proper and adequate notice of the Motion has been given and that no other or further notice is necessary; and upon the record herein; and after due deliberation thereon; and this Court having determined that the relief requested in the Motion is in the best interests of the Debtors, their estates, their creditors, and other parties in interest, it is hereby

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED THAT:

1. The Motion is GRANTED on a final basis, as set forth herein.
2. The Debtors are authorized, but not directed, and on ~~an interim~~ a final basis, to: (a) continue operating the Cash Management System in accordance with, and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Cash Management Agreements, (b) continue to use the Bank Accounts in existence as of the Petition Date, in the names and with the account numbers existing immediately before the Petition Date, (c) honor any prepetition obligations related to the Cash Management System in the ordinary course of business, and (d) pay to any ordinary course bank fees and charges relating to the Bank Accounts and treasury management services, in each case irrespective of whether such fees arose prior to the Petition Date, and perform their obligations under the Cash Management Agreements. The Debtors shall provide notice to the U.S. Trustee

and ~~any statutory committee appointed in these Chapter 11 Cases~~ counsel to the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (the “Committee”) of any material changes to their Cash Management System.

3. The Debtors are further authorized to: (a) maintain any corporate card programs and honor all prepetition and post-petition obligations arising thereunder, and (b) pay or reimburse any ordinary course amounts owed in connection with merchant services provided by the Banks, including without limitation PNC Merchant Services, or any other corporate credit card provider, for any fees, charges, refunds, chargebacks, reserves and other amounts due and owing from the Debtors to the providers of the corporate credit cards, p-cards, or any other similar arrangements, (the “**Corporate Credit Cards**”) under the applicable Cash Management Agreements, whether such obligations are incurred prepetition or post-petition, and the Banks providing for such Corporate Credit Cards are authorized to receive or obtain payment for such obligations, as provided under, and in the manner set forth in, the applicable Cash Management Agreement governing such Corporate Credit Cards.

4. The Debtors are further authorized, but not directed, to: (a) continue to use all of the Bank Accounts in existence as of the Petition Date, including but not limited to those accounts identified on Exhibit C to the Motion, in accordance with the terms of the applicable Cash Management Agreements; (b) use, in their present form, all Business Forms, without reference to the Debtors’ status as debtors in possession; *provided that* in the event that the Debtors need to purchase new check stock during the pendency of these Chapter 11 Cases, such check stock will include a legend referring to the Debtors as “Debtors in Possession” or “DIP” and the lead case number; *provided further* that with respect to checks that the Debtors or their agents print themselves, the Debtors shall use commercially reasonable efforts to print the

“Debtor in Possession” legend and the lead bankruptcy case number on such checks; (c) treat the Bank Accounts for all purposes as accounts of the Debtors as debtors-in-possession; (d) deposit funds in and withdraw funds from the Bank Accounts by all usual means, including checks, wire transfers, ACH payments, and other debits; and (e) pay any ordinary course prepetition or postpetition fees incurred in connection with the Bank Accounts and to otherwise perform their obligations under the applicable Cash Management Agreements governing the Bank Accounts.

5. The Cash Management Agreements existing between the Debtors and the Banks shall continue to govern the post-petition cash management relationship between the Debtors and the Banks and all of the provisions of such agreements, including the termination, fee provisions, rights, benefits, collateral, and offset rights, and remedies afforded under such agreements shall remain in full force and effect absent further order of this Court or, with respect to any such agreement with the Banks (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any rights of the Bank to use funds from the Bank Accounts to remedy any overdraft of another Bank Account or other cash management obligations, whether prepetition or postpetition, to the extent permitted under the applicable Cash Management Agreement), unless the Debtors and Bank agree otherwise, and any other legal rights and remedies afforded to the Bank under applicable law shall be preserved.

6. Each Bank is hereby authorized to continue to maintain, service, and administer the Bank Accounts as accounts of the Debtors as debtors in possession without interruption and in the ordinary course and to receive, process, honor, and pay, to the extent of available funds, any and all checks, drafts, wires, ACH transfers, and other electronic transfers of any kind issued and drawn on the Bank Accounts after the Petition Date by the holders or makers thereof, as the case may be (including the completion of any such transaction commenced on or before the Petition Date but not completed until on or after the Petition Date).

7. All objections to the entry of this Final Order, to the extent not withdrawn or settled, are overruled.

8. Each Bank may rely on the Debtors' representations with respect to whether any check or other payment order drawn or issued by the Debtors prior to the Petition Date should be honored pursuant to this or any other order of this Court, and the Banks shall not have any liability to any party for relying on such representations by the Debtors as provided for herein.

9. Subject to the terms of the applicable Cash Management Agreements, the Debtors are authorized to open any new bank accounts or close any existing Bank Accounts as they may deem necessary and appropriate in their sole discretion; *provided* that the Debtors give five (5) business days' prior notice to counsel for the Prepetition ABL Administrative Agent, counsel for the Prepetition Term Loan Agent, the U.S. Trustee, [counsel to the Committee](#) and any statutory committees appointed in these Chapter 11 Cases; *provided, further*, that the Debtors shall only open any such new bank accounts at banks that have executed a Uniform Depository Agreement with the U.S. Trustee, or at banks that are willing to immediately execute such an agreement.

10. The Debtors are authorized to continue to charge, and the Debtors are authorized to pay, honor, or allow the deduction from the appropriate account, the Bank Fees in the ordinary course of business, whether such items are dated prior to, on, or subsequent to the Petition Date.

11. Subject to the terms of the applicable Cash Management Agreements, ~~The~~[the](#) Debtors are authorized to continue performing Intercompany Transactions in the ordinary course of business; *provided that* the Debtors shall [provide counsel to the Committee with at least three \(3\) days' prior notice of payment of any Intercompany Claim exceeding \\$50,000 between any Debtor entity and any non-Debtor affiliate, including a report detailing the calculation of such Intercompany Transaction. For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided herein, the](#)

Debtors shall not be authorized by this Final Order to undertake any Intercompany Transactions that are ~~not on terms materially consistent with the Debtors' operation of their business in~~ outside the ordinary course ~~during the prepetition period;~~ of business; *provided further* that the Debtors shall not be authorized by this Final Order to make cash payments on account of any prepetition Intercompany Claims.

12. The Debtors shall maintain accurate and detailed records of all transfers, including, without limitation, Intercompany Transactions and the payment of Intercompany Claims so that all transactions, including Intercompany Transactions and the payment of Intercompany Claims, may be readily ascertained, traced, and properly recorded in intercompany accounts (if any) and distinguished between prepetition and postpetition transactions, including for the purpose of determining administrative expense status.

13. ~~12.~~ All Intercompany Claims arising after the Petition Date as a result of Intercompany Transactions and transfers in the ordinary course of business shall be accorded administrative expense status in accordance with section 503(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; *provided, however,* ~~that, subject to entry of the Final Order,~~ nothing herein shall limit or be construed to limit the Debtors' ability to reconcile amounts owed between and among any Debtors, including netting and setting off obligations arising from Intercompany Transactions, whether arising prepetition or postpetition, in the ordinary course of business, as determined by the applicable Debtor.

14. ~~13.~~ Except as provided otherwise in paragraph ~~12~~ 13 of this Final Order, the relief granted in this Final Order with respect to any Intercompany Transaction or Intercompany Claim shall not constitute a finding as to the validity, priority, or status of such Intercompany Transaction or Intercompany Claim. The rights of any party, including the Debtors and the

Committee, to contest the validity, priority, or status of any Intercompany Transaction or Intercompany Claim, or to object to object to or avoid any Intercompany Claim actually paid pursuant to this Final Order, are expressly reserved.

~~14. The Debtors shall maintain accurate and detailed records of all transactions and transfers, including Intercompany Transactions, in accordance with their prepetition practices so that all transactions and transfers may be ascertained, traced, recorded properly, and distinguished between prepetition and postpetition transactions and transfers.~~

15. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, despite the Debtors' use of the consolidated Cash Management System, the Debtors shall calculate quarterly fees under 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6) based on the disbursements of each Debtor, regardless of which Debtor pays those disbursements.

16. Within two (2) business days from the entry of this Final Order, the Debtors shall serve a copy of this Final Order on each Bank.

17. Except as specifically set forth in this Final Order, nothing in the Motion, the Interim Order, or this Final Order, or the relief granted herein (including any actions taken or payments made by the Debtors), is to be construed as: (a) an implication or admission as to the amount of, basis for, or validity of any claim against the Debtors under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable non-bankruptcy law; (b) a waiver of the Debtors' or any other party in interest's right to dispute any claim; (c) a promise or requirement to pay any particular claim; (d) an implication or admission that any particular claim is of a type specified or defined in the Motion; (e) a concession by the Debtors that any lien (contractual, common, statutory or otherwise) satisfied pursuant to the Motion are valid (and all rights to contest the extent, validity or perfection or seek avoidance of all such liens are expressly reserved); (f) a request or

authorization to assume, adopt, or reject any agreement, contract, or lease pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code; (g) an admission as to the validity, priority, enforceability, or perfection of any lien on, security interest in, or other encumbrance on property of the Debtors' estates; (h) a waiver of the obligation of any party in interest to file a proof of claim; or (i) a waiver of any claims or causes of action which may exist against any entity under the Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable law. Nothing contained in this Final Order shall be deemed to increase, reclassify, elevate to an administrative expense status, or otherwise affect any claim to the extent it is not paid.

18. Notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rule 6004(h), or any other procedural rule, to the extent applicable, this Final Order shall be effective and enforceable immediately upon entry hereof.

19. The Debtors are authorized and empowered to take all actions necessary or appropriate to implement the relief granted in this Final Order.

20. This Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to all matters arising from or related to the implementation, interpretation or enforcement of this Final Order.